

Evaluation Report:

WellBeing International Limited

An Analysis of the 'Wellbeing for Mothers and Babies' Course

Report Author:

Dr Christopher Barnes

Contents

Executive Summary	3
The Importance of Maternal Health and Wellbeing	4
About	5
The report author	5
The Wellbeing for Mothers and Babies course	5
The Evaluation Methodology	6
Results	8
Conclusions	10
References	12
Contact Information	14
Funding & Ethical Approval	14
Acknowledgement	14

Executive Summary

Maternal mental health is a vital public health concern, with postnatal depression and anxiety affecting up to 20% of women and posing risks to both mother and child. While effective treatments exist, many mothers face barriers to accessing care, including stigma, underdiagnosis, and a lack of culturally sensitive interventions. Against this backdrop, the *Wellbeing for Mothers and Babies course* offers a promising, community-based intervention designed to support the emotional, psychological, and relational well-being of mothers and their infants. This evaluation, led by Dr. Christopher Barnes (University of Derby), examined the impact of the five-week course on key psychological outcomes in 56 mothers. Participants completed validated measures of parental self-efficacy, well-being, happiness, depression, anxiety and stress before and after the course.

Key Findings:

- Significant improvements were observed across all measured outcomes:
 - o Increased parental self-efficacy, mental well-being, and happiness
 - Decreased stress, anxiety, and depression
- Large effects were noted for parental self-efficacy, well-being, happiness, and stress reduction, indicating meaningful psychological benefits throughout the period of the program.
- Parental self-efficacy emerged as a key predictor of improved outcomes, accounting for 12– 16% of the variance in well-being, stress, and happiness.

Practical Implications

- Short-term, skills-based courses, *such as Wellbeing for Mothers and Babies*, can provide substantial mental health benefits for new mothers.
- Building parental self-efficacy is crucial in improving psychological outcomes and may offer a gateway to longer-term resilience and bonding.

Recommendations

- Widen access to the course through enhanced delivery models and ongoing support beyond the initial five weeks.
- Tailor interventions to individual needs by integrating mindfulness, coping strategies, and social support mechanisms.
- Investigate additional factors influencing maternal well-being such as cultural background, social context, and environmental support to further enhance program impact.

This evaluation offers robust, preliminary research-based evidence that the *Wellbeing for Mothers and Babies* course effectively improves maternal mental health and wellbeing. As such, it represents a scalable and compassionate approach to addressing the emotional and psychological needs of new mothers in the postnatal period.

The Importance of Maternal Health and Wellbeing

The arrival of a new baby is often a time of immense happiness; however, for many families, it can be accompanied by the onset or exacerbation of mental health issues. These challenges can have negative effects on mothers, their children, their families, and society at large (Howard and Khalifeh, 2020). Research suggests that approximately 15-20% of women experience postnatal depression (Shorey et al., 2018), while around 10% face postnatal anxiety (Dennis et al., 2017; Fawcett et al., 2019). The prevalence of mental health issues during the postnatal period can often be higher, especially in women facing certain social, economic, or psychological risks. For example, women who experience traumatic births, lack social support, or come from disadvantaged backgrounds are more vulnerable to mental health issues. The causes of these conditions are multifaceted and not entirely understood. Over the years, several risk factors have been identified in the literature as key contributors to postnatal depression, starting with early meta-analyses. These include limited social support, stressful life events, and a history of depression (Beck, 1996; O'Hara and Swain, 1996; van der Zee-van den Berg et al., 2021). Other factors include severe life events, particularly adverse childhood experiences, complications during pregnancy, a family history of mood disorders, and low maternal self-efficacy (van der Zee-van den Berg et al., 2021; Yim et al., 2015; Nidey et al., 2020; Racine et al., 2020). A recent meta-analysis identified premenstrual syndrome, experiences of violence, and unintended pregnancies as particularly strong risk factors for some women (Gastaldon et al., 2022). For postnatal anxiety, contributing factors include a previous history of depression, low partner support, low maternal self-efficacy, difficult childbirth experiences, and excessive infant crying (van der Zee-van den Berg et al., 2021).

Although both psychological and pharmacological treatments for postnatal depression have demonstrated effectiveness (Howard and Khalifeh, 2020), many mothers do not receive appropriate care. This is often due to underdiagnosis, long wait times for therapy, childcare responsibilities, and concerns about potential medication side effects (Cox et al., 2016; Owais et al., 2018). Additionally, in some cultural contexts, there is a degree of scepticism about applying Western medical concepts like "postnatal depression" to explain human suffering, which may be viewed as requiring treatment in a clinical setting (Oates et al., 2004; Husain et al., 2022). In such cases, postnatal distress may be seen as a natural reaction to a lack of social or economic support (Taylor et al., 2022; Chung et al., 2004), or as part of the challenging transition to motherhood that is not widely marked by significant cultural recognition or ritual in many Western societies (Rallis et al., 2014). Furthermore, many treatment approaches fail to consider the importance of the mother-infant relationship (Forman et al., 2007). This demonstrates the need for research into new, adaptable, and sustainable interventions that not only support maternal mental health but also engage both mother and infant, potentially offering benefits across diverse cultural and social settings. Supporting maternal mental health in the postnatal period is essential not only for the well-being of mothers but also for the healthy development of their children. As highlighted by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), mental health issues affect approximately 1 in 10 women during the perinatal period. These conditions, such as postnatal depression, anxiety, and psychosis, can have a profound impact on both the mother and the child if left unaddressed. In fact, untreated mental health conditions can result in poor maternal bonding, developmental delays in children, and difficulties in family dynamics, making it vital that mothers receive adequate support during this crucial time. A combination of early intervention, accessible services, and social support can significantly improve outcomes for both mothers and their children, promoting long-term well-being and family stability as highlighted in policies such as The NHS Long Term Plan.

Therefore, supporting maternal mental health involves not only providing psychological support but also facilitating the physical and emotional connection between mothers and their infants.

About

The report author

Dr Christopher Barnes is a Chartered Psychologist, Associate Fellow of the British Psychological Society, and Senior Lecturer at the University of Derby. His published research focuses on parenting and child development in diverse and clinical contexts, as well as the impact of nature on human health across the lifespan. He has also co-edited and authored the books 'Family Relationships in the Early Years' and 'Expanding Frontiers of Neonatal Care: An Interdisciplinary Approach'.

The Wellbeing for Mothers and Babies course

<u>Wellbeing International Ltd</u> is an organisation dedicated to enhancing the emotional, mental, and physical well-being of individuals in the corporate world and beyond. Their team of committed experts offers a range of Wellbeing Capsules, Training Sessions, Workshops, and Retreats both online and in person.

Researchers at the University of Derby have been invited to evaluate one of the organisation's courses, <u>Wellbeing for Mothers and Babies</u>, which is specifically designed for baby massage practitioners. Upon completing the training, instructors are qualified to lead a 5-week course for mothers and babies (aged 3 months to 1 year). This innovative and unique course was developed by Kate Pigeon-Owen and Caroline Roberts, both of whom are International Association of Infant Massage Trainers with over 20 years of experience working with young families. Practitioners are trained in four key areas:

- Share with mothers the fundamental aspects of physical, emotional & mental wellbeing for them & their baby.
- Enhance your facilitation skills leading Icebreakers, Theory & Discussion. Explore further ways of creating & holding a safe place.
- Deepen the attachment/bonding process by sharing Wellbeing Story Massage & rhyme time
- Learn additional ways to relax mothers with guided breathing, movement & a simple back massage

The Evaluation Methodology

Purpose

This study aimed to evaluate a short course, 'Wellbeing for mothers and babies,' for parents who wish to learn more about their babies' development and well-being and deepen their attachment relationship.

Study Design

A repeated measures within-subjects pre- post-test design was used in this study. Measures were completed by parents immediately before the 5-week course and immediately following its end.

Participants

A total of 56 mothers provided data at both time points (pre- and post-course). There were 86% of mothers who described themselves as White British and the remaining 14% included those who defined their ethnicity as (Count - Mixed race [3], Asian [2], Irish white [2] and Hispanic [1]). The mean age of mothers was 34 years (range 23-44) with their youngest child being an average age of 22 weeks of age (5.5 months) and ranging between eight to 40 weeks of age. For many it was their first child (73%) with almost all others having at least one other (23%) with only one mother having either three (2%) or four children (2%).

Measures

Parental Self-efficacy Scale (PMPSE; Barnes, 2007)

Is a 20 item measure of parenting self-efficacy. The scale is measured on a 4-point Likert scale (1-Strongly Disagree- 4-Strongly Agree). The scale, although initially developed with a population of parents of hospitalised preterm neonates, has been used extensively and with other diverse and non-hospitalised populations. Cronbach's alpha of between 0.89-0.92 are reported across published studies.

The Short Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (SWEMWBS; Stewart-Brown et al., 2009)

This 7-item scale is comprised of only positively worded items relating to different aspects of positive mental health measured on a 1- 5 Likert scale (1 - none of the time; 5 - all of the time). With a student population, the scale has a Cronbach's alpha of .89 and .91 with a general population sample.

The Oxford Happiness Questionnaire (OHQ; Hills & Argyle, 2001)

The Oxford Happiness Questionnaire, designed to measure individual happiness, is based on the Oxford Happiness Inventory (OHI). The OHQ is valid and reliable; researchers found "a battery of personality variables known to be associated with well-being [that] were stronger for OHQ than for the OHI" (Hills & Argyle, 2001, p. 1073). This questionnaire has 29 self-report statements for responses on a 6-point Likert scale. We are using the shortened 8-item version.

Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale (DASS-21; Lovibond & Lovibond, 1996)

The Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale - 21 Items (DASS-21) is a set of three self-report scales designed to measure the emotional states of depression, anxiety and stress. Each of the three DASS-21 scales contains 7 items, divided into subscales with similar content. The depression scale assesses dysphoria, hopelessness, devaluation of life, self-deprecation, lack of interest/involvement, anhedonia and inertia. The anxiety scale assesses autonomic arousal, skeletal muscle effects, situational anxiety, and subjective experience of anxious affect. The stress scale is sensitive to levels of chronic nonspecific arousal. It assesses difficulty relaxing, nervous arousal, and being easily upset/agitated, irritable /over-reactive and impatient. Scores for depression, anxiety and stress are calculated by summing the scores for the relevant items.

Analysis

Data were analysed using a series of paired samples t-tests to evaluate any change across time (precourse to post-course). We also investigated whether change in Parental Self-efficacy as a result of the course predicted wellbeing, Stress and Happiness using a Simple Linear Regression.

Results

Descriptive Statistics and Paired Samples t-Tests

A series of paired samples t-tests were conducted to examine changes in parental self-efficacy, well-being, happiness, stress, anxiety, and depression, following a five-week parental course. Summary data is presented in Table 1.

Significant improvements were observed for parental self-efficacy (PMPSE), well-being (SWEMWBS), happiness (OHQ), stress, anxiety, and depression (DASS). Post-intervention scores for PMPSE, SWEMWBS, and OHQ were significantly higher, indicating increased self-efficacy, well-being, and happiness. Conversely, post-intervention stress, anxiety, and depression scores were significantly lower, suggesting these factors decreased.

Table 1. Paired Samples t-Test Results

Measure	Pre-Test Mean (SD)	Post-Test Mean (SD)	t	p-value
PMPSE (Self-Efficacy)	67.67 (8.24)	72.07 (5.72)	-6.832	<.001
SWEMWBS (Wellbeing)	23.30 (3.99)	26.83 (2.85)	-8.460	<.001
DASS - Stress	16.46 (8.35)	9.78(6.26)	9.733	<.001
DASS - Anxiety	6.53 (6.93)	4.28 (4.43)	4.903	<.001
DASS - Depression	8.25 (7.63)	5.46 (5.16)	4.136	<.001
OHQ (Happiness)	31.20 (6.62)	34.92 (6.15)	-9.661	<.001

Effect Sizes¹

Cohen's d was calculated to assess the magnitude of change (see Table 2) from before to after the 5-week parental course. Large effect sizes were observed for well-being (d = -1.131), happiness (d = -1.315), and parental self-efficacy (d = -0.913), indicating substantial improvements. A large effect was also observed for stress reduction (d = 1.301), while moderate effects were found for anxiety (d = 0.655) and depression (d = 0.553).

¹ Effect size is a statistical term that quantifies the magnitude of a difference or relationship observed in a study, providing insight into its practical significance. While statistical significance (often represented by p-values) indicates whether an effect exists, effect size reveals the strength of that effect, helping us understand its real-world importance.

Table 2. Effect Sizes (Cohen's d)

Measure	Cohen's d	Effect Size Interpretation
PMPSE (Self-Efficacy)	-0.913	Large improvement
SWEMWBS (Wellbeing)	-1.131	Large improvement
OHQ (Happiness)	-1.315	Large improvement
DASS - Stress	1.301	Large reduction
DASS - Anxiety	0.655	Moderate reduction
DASS - Depression	0.553	Moderate reduction

Regression Analyses

Three simple linear regression analyses were conducted to further examine the relationships between parental self-efficacy (predictor) and (i) well-being, (ii) stress, and (iii) happiness (three outcomes). Correlations and regression statistics can be seen in Tables 3 and 4. Results indicate that **changes in parental self-efficacy significantly predicted changes in all three outcome factors - well-being, stress, and happiness**. Higher parental self-efficacy improvements were associated with greater increases in well-being (β = 0.349, p = .008) and happiness (β = 0.357, p = .008), as well as greater reductions in stress (β = -0.404, p = .002). Although significant, the models accounted for a modest proportion of variance (β = 12.2% for well-being, 16.3% for stress, and 12.7% for happiness), suggesting that additional factors may contribute to changes in well-being and stress beyond self-efficacy.

Table 3. Summary of correlations between factors

	PMPSE	SWEMWBS	Stress	Anxiety	Depression	OHQ
PMPSE	•	.349**	404**	.132	023	.357**
SWEMWBS	.349**		532**	367**	556**	.609**
DASS - Stress	404**	532**		.432**	.519**	343*
DASS - Anxiety	.132	367**	.432**		.560**	206
DASS - Depression	023	556**	.519**	.560**		449**
OHQ	.357**	.609**	343*	206	449**	

Key: PMPSE = Parental Self-Efficacy; SWEMBS = Mental Wellbeing; OHQ = Happiness. Significance levels: $p<.01** \sim p<.05*$

Table 4. Summary of Regression Analyses Predicting Well-being, Stress, and Happiness from Parental Self-Efficacy

Outcome Variable	β (Standardized)	R ²	F	р
Well-being (SWEMWBS_Change)	0.349	0.122	7.51	.008
Stress Reduction (DASS - Stress_Change)	-0.404	0.163	10.54	.002
Happiness (OHQ_Change)	0.357	0.127	7.58	.008

Conclusions

The evaluation of the **Wellbeing for Mothers and Babies** course indicates significant improvements in key psychological outcomes for participants. A pre-post comparison showed increased **parental self-efficacy, well-being, and happiness**, alongside significant reductions in **stress, anxiety, and depression**. Effect sizes suggest these improvements were substantial, particularly for well-being, happiness, and stress reduction.

Regression analyses further highlight the role of **parental self-efficacy** in predicting well-being, stress reduction, and happiness, although the explained variance was modest (12.2%–16.3%). This suggests that while self-efficacy plays a role in improving well-being outcomes, **other contributing factors should be explored** to fully understand the mechanisms driving these changes.

In summary, the findings provide **strong evidence** that the **Wellbeing for Mothers and Babies** course effectively enhances parental confidence and mental well-being.

Practical Implications

- Structured, short-term parental support courses, such as the 'Wellbeing for Mothers and Babies' can significantly enhance parental self-efficacy, well-being, and happiness, while also reducing stress, anxiety, and depression, highlighting its value in mental health promotion for new mothers.
- The findings emphasise the importance of self-efficacy in driving improvements in well-being and stress reduction, suggesting that targeted interventions that build parental confidence may yield broader psychological benefits.
- Given the large effect sizes for stress and well-being, integrating similar psychological support frameworks into wider maternal health services could help improve outcomes for other diverse populations.
- The findings demonstrate that enhancing self-efficacy plays an instrumental role in improving well-being, reducing stress, and increasing happiness. Building on this, incorporating additional elements such as social support networks, practical parenting strategies, and emotional resilience training could further strengthen the program's impact and provide comprehensive support for maternal mental health.

Key Recommendations and Considerations

- Expand program accessibility and sustainability: To maximise long-term benefits, consider follow-up support or booster sessions post-program completion to help parents maintain improvements in self-efficacy, well-being, and stress management over time.
- Offer tailored approaches for stress and emotional regulation: Since stress and emotional distress significantly improved, future adaptations could personalise interventions by incorporating individualised coping strategies, mindfulness techniques, or peer-led discussions to sustain these benefits beyond the program duration.
- Explore additional factors influencing well-being: Since self-efficacy only explained a
 portion of the variance in well-being and stress outcomes, further research should
 investigate other external factors (e.g. social support) to enhance program
 effectiveness.

References

Beck, C. T. (1996). A meta-analysis of predictors of postpartum depression. *Nursing Research*, *45*(5), 297–303. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006199-199609000-00008

Chung, T. K. H., Lau, T. K., Yip, A. S. K., Chiu, H. F. K., & Lee, D. T. S. (2004). Antepartum depressive symptomatology is associated with adverse obstetric and neonatal outcomes. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *66*(6), 806–810. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.psy.0000145892.81245.40

Cox, E. Q., Sowa, N. A., Meltzer-Brody, S. E., & Gaynes, B. N. (2016). The perinatal depression treatment cascade: Baby steps toward improving outcomes. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 77*(9), 1189–1200. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.15r10174

Dennis, C. L., Falah-Hassani, K., & Shiri, R. (2017). Prevalence of antenatal and postnatal anxiety: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *210*(5), 315–323. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.116.187179

Fawcett, E. J., Fairbrother, N., Cox, M. L., White, I. R., & Fawcett, J. M. (2019). The prevalence of anxiety disorders during pregnancy and the postpartum period: A multivariate Bayesian meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 80(4), 18r12527. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.18r12527

Forman, D. R., O'Hara, M. W., Stuart, S., Gorman, L. L., Larsen, K. E., & Coy, K. C. (2007). Effective treatment for postpartum depression is not sufficient to improve the developing mother—child relationship. *Development and Psychopathology,* 19(2), 585–602. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579407070289

Gastaldon, C., Papola, D., Ostuzzi, G., Barbui, C., & Fava, G. A. (2022). Risk factors for postnatal depression: An umbrella review of meta-analyses. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *145*(2), 97–113. https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.13400

Howard, L. M., & Khalifeh, H. (2020). Perinatal mental health: A review of progress and challenges. *World Psychiatry, 19*(3), 313–327. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20769

Husain, N., Kiran, T., Fatima, B., Chaudhry, I. B., & Naeem, F. (2022). Barriers to accessing mental healthcare for perinatal depression in South Asia: A systematic review. *Global Mental Health*, *9*, e33. https://doi.org/10.1017/gmh.2022.27

Nidey, N., Momany, E., Segre, L., Moser, S., & McDonald, T. (2020). Predictors of a postpartum depression diagnosis in Medicaid-enrolled mothers. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, 23(1), 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-019-00952-4

O'Hara, M. W., & Swain, A. M. (1996). Rates and risk of postpartum depression—A meta-analysis. *International Review of Psychiatry, 8*(1), 37–54. https://doi.org/10.3109/09540269609037816

Oates, M. R., Cox, J. L., Neema, S., Asten, P., Glangeaud-Freudenthal, N. M. C., & Figueiredo, B. (2004). Postnatal depression across countries and cultures: A qualitative study. *British Journal of Psychiatry,* 184, 10–16. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.184.46.s10

Owais, S., Faltyn, M., Johnson, A. V., & MacQueen, G. M. (2018). When a new mother is not happy: Screening and treatment for postpartum depression. *CMAJ*, 190(47), E1449–E1450. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.181116

Racine, N., Zumwalt, K., McDonald, S., Tough, S., Madigan, S. (2020). Perinatal depression: The role of maternal adverse childhood experiences and recent life stress. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 20,* 176. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-02897-z

Rallis, S., Skouteris, H., McCabe, M., & Milgrom, J. (2014). The transition to motherhood: Towards a broader understanding of perinatal distress. *Women and Birth, 27*(1), 68–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2013.10.001

Shorey, S., Chee, C. Y. I., Ng, E. D., Chan, Y. H., San Tam, W. W., & Chong, Y. S. (2018). Prevalence and incidence of postpartum depression among healthy mothers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 104, 235–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.08.001

Taylor, B. L., Howard, L. M., & Jackson, K. (2022). Cultural aspects of perinatal mental health. In L. M. Howard, R. Khalifeh, & A. Milgrom (Eds.), *Perinatal mental health: Expanding the focus to the family* (pp. 73–89). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108625251.006

van der Zee-van den Berg, A. I., Boere-Boonekamp, M. M., Ijzerman, M. J., Haasnoot-Smallegange, R. M., & Reijneveld, S. A. (2021). Postpartum depression: A systematic review of risk assessment instruments. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, *24*(1), 11–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-020-01053-8

Yim, I. S., Tanner Stapleton, L. R., Guardino, C. M., Hahn-Holbrook, J., & Dunkel Schetter, C. (2015). Biological and psychosocial predictors of postpartum depression: Systematic review and call for integration. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 11*, 99–137. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-101414-020426

Contact Information

Kate Pigeon-Owen (Director & Wellbeing Consultant)
 Wellbeing International Limited

W: http://www.wellbeinginternational.co.uk/

T: 01379 677335

E: enquiries@wellbeinginternational.co.uk

2. Dr Christoper Barnes (C.Psychol, AFBPsS, SFHEA)

University of Derby

Psychological and Behavioural Sciences School of Psychology

W: https://www.derby.ac.uk/staff/christopher-barnes/

T: 01332 59**2216**

E: c.barnes1@derby.ac.uk

S: LinkedIn – Bluesky – ResearchGate

ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8318-4412

Funding & Ethical Approval

This research was carried out impartially, and no funding or other payment has been received by the report author or their organisation. Ethical approval was given by the College of Health, Psychology and Social Care Research Ethics Committee.

Acknowledgement

With sincere thanks to the instructors and parents who made this evaluation project possible through their support and participation.